## **IN THE SUPREME COURT** STATE OF FLORIDA 500 South Duval Street Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1927

### JASON ANDREW SIMPSON

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appeal No.:SC07-798L.T. Court No.:02-CF-11026

Appellee.

\_\_\_\_\_/

## <u>APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF ON DIRECT APPEAL, PURSUANT TO</u> <u>FLA. R. APP. PRO. RULE 9.140(1)(a)</u>

On Appeal from the Circuit Court, Fourth Judicial Circuit, and For Duval County, Florida

> Honorable Charles W. Arnold Judge of the Circuit Court, Division H

**FRANK J. TASSONE, JR. ESQ.** Fla. Bar. No.: 165611 **RICK A. SICHTA, ESQ.** Fla. Bar. No.: 0669903

### TASSONE AND SICHTA, LLC.

#### **PRELIMINARY STATEMENT**

Appellant, JASON SIMPSON, will be referred to as "Appellant." The State of Florida will be referred to as "Appellee." Attorneys Frank J. Tassone and Rick A. Sichta, who are representing Appellant in this matter, will be referred to as the "undersigned counsel." Counsel at the time of trial will be referred to as either "Mr. Eler" or "Mr. Fletcher".

References to the Record on Appeal will be designated "ROA," followed by the page number indicated on the Index to the Record on Appeal. Citations to the trial transcripts will be designated "ROA" followed by a page citation.

#### STATEMENTS OF THE CASE AND FACTS

#### **Procedural History**

Jason Andrew Simpson was indicted for two counts of First-Degree Murder on December 5, 2002. Trial was held January 22-26, 2007 before the Honorable Judge Charles Arnold, Circuit Judge of the Fourth Judicial Circuit in and for Duval County. The jury found the Defendant, Jason Simpson, guilty of both counts of First-Degree Murder on January 29, 2007. The penalty phase of the trial began on February 6, 2007 and resulted in an 8-4 jury recommendation in favor of the death penalty for the murder of Archie Crook Sr.; and a 9-3 vote recommendation for the death penalty for the murder of Kimberli Kimbler. A <u>Spencer<sup>1</sup> hearing was held on March 8,</u> 2007 at which hearing the defendant read a letter to the court, but no other evidence was presented.

In the sentencing order, the court gave great weight to five (5) statutory aggravators in determining the defendant's sentence for both Counts One and Two, including: 1) Crime(s) committed by a convicted Felon while serving Felony Probation pursuant to <u>Fla. Stat. 921.141(5)(a)</u>; 2) Prior Felony conviction involving the use or threat of violence pursuant to <u>Fla. Stat. 921.141(5)(b)</u>; 3) Capital felony was committed while defendant

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Pursuant to <u>Spencer v. State</u>, 615 So. 2d 688 (Fla. 1993)

was engaged in the commission of the crime of Burglary pursuant to <u>Fla.</u> <u>Stat. 921.141(5)(d)</u>; The crime was especially Heinous, Atrocious, and Cruel (hereafter HAC Aggravator) pursuant to <u>Fla. Stat. 921.141(5)(h)</u>; 5) The Capital felony was committed in cold, calculated, and premeditated matter (hereafter CCP aggravator) pursuant to <u>Fla. Stat. 921.141(5)(i)</u>.

The Defendant introduced one statutory mitigator at sentencing, specifically the age of the Defendant at the time of the crime pursuant to <u>Fla.</u> <u>Stat. 921.141(6)(g)</u>. The court considered all mitigation evidence jointly as to Counts One and Two in the sentencing order, and gave no weight to the lone statutory mitigator presented in determining the sentence of the defendant. Non-statutory mitigation evidence was presented by counsel in the form of two memorandums that introduced a total of eighteen (18) non-statutory mitigators for the Court's consideration.

Specifically, 1) The Deaths were Relatively Swift. The trial court held that this non-statutory mitigator was not proven and gave it no weight in determining the sentence. 2) Defendant Cooperated with Law Enforcement in Prior Case (Durrance/Crooks). This mitigator was held to be proven and was given considerable weight in considering the sentence of defendant. 3) Defendant Cooperated with Law Enforcement in State v. Wright, 1998. The court held that this mitigator was not proven and

assigned no weight in considering the sentence. 4) Abusive and Deprived Childhood. The court held this mitigator was proven and gave it slight weight in considering the defendant's sentence. 5) Exposed to Alcoholism in Family. The court held that this mitigator was proven and gave it slight weight in considering the sentence of defendant. 6) Unstable Home Environment. The court held this mitigator was proven and gave it slight weight. 7) Absence of a Role Model. The court held this mitigator unproven and therefore assigned it no weight in determining sentence. 8) Addiction to Drugs and Drug Abuse. The court held this mitigator was proven but assigned it little weight in determining sentence. 9) Previous Completion of Substance Abuse Program. The court held that this mitigator was proven but assigned it little weight. 10) Charitable and Humanitarian Deeds. The court held this mitigator was proven but assigned it little weight. 11) Personal Accomplishments (GED/Lundeburg School/FFCJ) The court found this mitigator proven and assigned it slight weight in determining sentence. 12) Artistic Talent. The court held this mitigator proven, but assigned it little weight. 13) Respect to Elders and Family. The court found this mitigator proven, but assigned it little weight. 14) Family and Friends that Love Him. The court held this mitigator proven and assigned it slight weight. 15) Society can be Protected by a Sentence of Life. The court held this mitigator

proven, but gave it no weight in determining sentence. 16) Religious Faith. The court held this mitigator proven and assigned it slight weight. 17) Defendant's Courtroom Behavior. The court held this mitigator proven and assigned it slight weight. 18) Suicide Attempts by Defendant. The court held this mitigator proven and assigned it slight weight in determining sentence.

The Court agreed with the jury in the weighing of the aggravating and mitigating factors, and held the jury was fully justified in both its 8-4 recommendation for death in the murder of Archie Crook Sr., and its 9-3 vote recommendation for death in the murder of Kimberli Kimbler and imposed a Death Sentence for each count on March 29, 2007.

#### **Statement of Facts**

On July 16, 1999 Archie Crook Sr. and Kimberli Kimbler were murdered in their residence located at 1621 Derito Drive in Jacksonville, Florida. The estimate to the time of death was established at trial by Medical Examiner Dr. Margarita Arruza to be around 1:00 am.<sup>2</sup> The bodies of the two victims were discovered the morning of July 16, 1999 by Christopher Howard and Clyde Crook. (ROA pg. 529)

 $<sup>^{2}</sup>$  At trial, it was established that the victim had eaten at roughly 11:30 p.m. on July 15, 1999 based on testimony of the victim's son, Archie Crook Jr. (TT. pgs 790-92), and through testimony of Dr. Arruza founded on her examination of the contents of the victim's stomach, which also allowed her to determine that death occurred in the vicinity of one hour after ingestion.

The victims were discovered after Mr. Crook entered the dwelling through an unlocked door leading to the bedroom in which the victims were found. Mr. Crook testified that after determining the victims were dead and calling police, he told no one about the position or condition of the bodies. (ROA pgs. 527-46) Mr. Howard later testified that he told no one of the position of the bodies as he viewed them, with the exception of his girlfriend, Kay Phillips. (ROA pg. 572) The victim's son, Archie Crook Jr., and friend Shawn Smallwood were seen by Mr. Howard at the dwelling where the murders occurred roughly one to two hours before the established time of death. (ROA pg. 551) Archie Crook Jr. and Shawn Smallwood were the last two people known to have seen the victims alive.

After an investigation of the crime scene, involving no less than four (4) Jacksonville Sheriff's Office (hereafter JSO) Detectives, numerous JSO officers, and a number of crime scene evidence technicians that lasted nearly an entire day (ROA pgs. 575-648); Mr. Howard and his young children discovered fibrous materials on a barbed wire fence next to the entrance to the dwelling believed to be evidence, a pair of white socks alleged to be worn by the murderer, and an axe believed to be the murder weapon, toward the rear of the property. (ROA pgs. 562-64)

JSO Detective David Chase testified that after the processing of the evidence and crime scene, no fingerprints of value were found on the doorknob leading from outside to the room in which the victims were found, on the axe believed to be the murder weapon, or on the victims. There was also no indication of forced entry into the dwelling. (ROA pgs. 587-621)

Father Thomas Willis, then the priest of the Most Holy Redeemer Catholic Church, was informed by his lawn service on the morning of July 18, 1999 that a pile of clothing had been noticed near an air duct next to the building. The clothes were not disturbed and Father Willis called the police having heard about the murders that occurred on the previous Friday. (ROA pgs. 704-09) Homicide Detective James Williams was in charge of collecting the clothing, and he directed an officer to package the clothing together, not individually. (ROA pg. 730)

Archie Crook, Sr. was a drug dealer for a number of years prior to his murder, dealing most notably in large amounts of powdered cocaine through his supplier George Durrance. (ROA pg. 865) Archie Crook, Jr. was involved in his father's drug enterprise by selling drugs for his father, and at the time of trial was currently under a federal sentence for conspiracy to distribute cocaine, marijuana, and methamphetamines. (ROA pg. 776)

George Durrance was, at the time of trial, under a sentence of thirtytwo (32) years stemming from seven (7) felony drug convictions. Durrance was convicted largely through the cooperation of a number of informants, including the Defendant Jason Simpson whom he had known approximately seven (7) years prior. (ROA pg. 864) Durrance discovered that Simpson had been working with police to convict him through discovery in his case, in which Simpson was listed as a witness. (ROA pg. 885) Durrance candidly admitted that he dealt large amounts of cocaine through Archie Crook, Sr. throughout the 1990's. (ROA pg. 865) Six (6) months prior to the murders, Durrance had a drug-business-related falling-out with Archie Crook Sr. over two (2) kilograms of powdered cocaine that he left with Archie Crook Jr., but had never received reimbursement. At the next transaction, Durrance supplied Archie Crook Sr. with fake cocaine, and kept the money as payment from the previous transaction, angering Archie Crook, Sr. (ROA) pg. 866)

At the time of trial in the instant case, Durrance was appealing his sentence by filing numerous post conviction motions through various counsel in an attempt to toll the proceedings in his case until the conclusion of the Simpson case in the hopes that his cooperation and testimony could be used to reduce his sentence. (ROA pgs. 890-92; 926-32) Durrance testified

8

that one day to one week prior to the murders, Appellant appeared at his house stating that Archie Crook, Sr. had offered him money to kill Durrance. Appellant allegedly stated that he was not going to do so, and was going to rob Archie Crook, Sr. instead. (ROA pg. 874-876) After the murders, Appellant allegedly appeared again and confessed to Durrance that he killed the victims, stating he went into the dwelling through a window in the laundry room. (ROA pg. 879) Appellant's defense showed at trial that it would have been nearly impossible for anyone to enter the house through said window (ROA pg. 907), and Durrance candidly admitted that he would lie under oath to facilitate a sentence reduction. (ROA pg. 898) Additionally, Durrance did not come forward with the information about Appellant's alleged confessions until late 2001 (the time of his trial).

Archie Crook, Jr. stated that he found out about the murders through Shawn Smallwood the morning of July 16, 1999 at roughly 7:00 a.m. Archie Jr. admitted that he went to Archie Sr.'s house the night of the murder with Smallwood. He stated that his father was eating and that Kim was in bed, but that she answered the door. He also admitted that he possessed a key to the residence, particularly to the back door leading to the bedroom. (ROA pg. 818) He testified that he spent the night with a girl named Heather Smith. (ROA pg. 795) The state did not produce Ms. Smith to verify Archie

Crook, Jr.'s story at trial. Detective James Williams, in the investigation into the murders, was informed by Troy Crook (the brother of the victim) and Misty McNeish (girlfriend of Archie Crook, Jr.) that Archie, Jr. was very upset that his father was having a child with Kimberli Kimbler and made statements to them that "the child would not see the light of day." (ROA pg. 1489) McNeish and Troy Crook would recant under oath having made those statements (ROA pgs. 1481, 1486), however Detective Williams was recalled by the defense to verify that said statements were told to him by said witnesses. (ROA pgs. 1489-90) Brenda Crook Bennett (sister of Archie Crook, Sr.) testified that Archie Jr. threatened to kill "all three of them" if they had the baby. (ROA pg. 1473) Archie Jr. testified that he suspected Appellant was working with law enforcement because Appellant received a time served sentence on a previous charge (ROA pg. 798), and that he remembered telling detectives upon questioning that he knew the position of the bodies as they were found in the house. (ROA pg. 821)

Appellant was born into a troubled family and was forced into a difficult life. Appellant's father, a merchant marine, was away from home nearly 75% of the year. (ROA pg. 1891) Appellant's father was also a heavy drinker and was frequently abusive towards Appellant's mother. This systemic physical abuse was witnessed by Appellant and his sister at a very

10

young age. (ROA pg. 1870) Appellant's parents divorced when he was young, leaving Appellant and his sister with virtually no family support as the parents were largely absent from his life. (ROA pg. 1875) Appellant's elder sister took it upon herself to raise Appellant. However, she was unable to control Appellant and at times was frightened of him due to his frequent mood swings that sometimes escalated into violent behavior. (ROA pg. 1874) Appellant was a frequent runaway, was known to set fires, and began using drugs at the age of 10. By the time he was a teenager, his drug use had spiraled into a \$1,000.00 per week cocaine addiction. (ROA pg. 1875-76)

Despite his troubled youth and upbringing, Appellant displayed a talent for music and was granted a scholarship to Douglas Anderson High School as a teenager. Appellant was also active in his church, was knowledgeable about the teachings of the Bible, and witnessed to friends and acquaintances on different occasions. (ROA pgs. 1898, 1904)

Appellant spent time in the Florida State Prison System throughout his life for a number of convictions. While in prison, Appellant attempted suicide on multiple occasions. (ROA pg. 1877) Eventually, Appellant would attempt to put his life back on track. He would eventually obtain a GED, attend a number of colleges and institutions in attempts to gain a viable skill, and would complete a drug counseling program at River Region Human

11

Services in 2002. (ROA pg. 1904) Appellant would go on to be a drug counselor to other troubled youth after the completion of this program. Pastor Fred Young testified that Appellant was active in his jail ministry, attending every Saturday church service in jail with fervor, and that he personally counseled Appellant for roughly one year. (ROA pgs. 1912-13)

Appellant was actively assisting a number of law enforcement agencies in the months prior to his being named as a suspect for the murders of Archie Crook, Sr. and Kimberli Kimbler. In addition to his assisting in the investigation of George Durrance, Appellant was working with Clay County officers, and the Federal DEA Agents as an informant. (ROA pg. 668) Appellant would go on to assist law enforcement in the investigation of Robert Walls, who was subsequently convicted of murder. (ROA pg. 1952)

Detective Robbie Hinson was one of the contacts through which the defendant was assisting law enforcement as an informant. He testified that he met with Appellant at his mother's house on July 16, 1999 and noticed a cut on defendant's right hand. Appellant stated that he cut it on his mother's fuse box while attempting to turn the power back on earlier that morning. (ROA pg. 676) JEA technician Russell Durham testified that there was a power outage in the defendant's mother's neighborhood that morning and

that JEA received a call from a "Mr. Simpson" at 7:56 a.m. regarding a power outage. (ROA pg. 1467) No additional follow up investigation was conducted by JSO officers to verify defendant's statements regarding the cut.

Appellant testified that he was at his mother's house the night of the murders and that he stayed there the entire night. He stated that prior to the murders, Archie Jr. contacted him about "hitting a lick" (which equated to stealing a car) and that he needed to borrow some clothing. Appellant stated that Archie Jr. arrived at his mother's residence and borrowed some clothing, finding a business card from Detective Tom Waugh of Clay County in his dresser drawer and leaving it on top of the dresser when he left. (ROA pg. 1388) Archie Jr. denied ever having been at Appellant's mother's house prior to his father's death at trial (ROA pg. 805), later under cross examination he would admit that he had been there prior to his father's death. (ROA pg. 818)

Law enforcement initially learned of Appellant's alleged involvement in the murders through statements given by family members of Archie Crook, Sr., notably Archie Jr. and his mother Rosie Crook, the latter of whom was at the time still technically married to the victim, but lived apart from Archie Sr. and his girlfriend Kimberli. Detective Hinson returned to Appellant's mother's house on July 20, 1999 and searched the house while the defendant was not present, finding nothing linking defendant to the scene of the crime. (ROA pg. 683) Detective Hinson returned the next day and asked Appellant for a cheek swab, to which Appellant willingly submitted a sample. (ROA pg. 661) Appellant, over two (2) years later in the investigation, willingly came to JSO headquarters and spoke with Detectives Eason and Gilbreath to discuss the case. (ROA pg. 948)

DNA samples were obtained from multiple evidentiary items collected in and for this case. These samples were eventually tested using multiple forms of DNA testing, most notably the then new technology of DNA nucleic testing at the FDLE Orlando branch laboratories. Analyst Charles Badger testified at trial (in summary) that no DNA found at the scene of the crime matched Appellant (ROA pg. 1144-49), no DNA found on the murder weapon matched Appellant (ROA pg. 1160-61), no DNA from the tennis shoes found at the Church matched Appellant (ROA pg. 1168), and no DNA could be extracted from the baseball hat found by the Church. (ROA pg. 1163) Mr. Badger testified that DNA samples taken from the elastic waist-band and leg cuffs of the sweatpants found at the church matched Appellant. (ROA pg. 1187-89) Samples collected from the neck band of the sweatshirt found at the church showed a DNA mixture and that

Appellant was a contributor. Archie Crook, Jr. could not be excluded as a minor contributor to the sample collected from the neckband. (ROA pg. 1191, 1251) Two hairs found among the debris collected from the package in which the clothing was stored were found to match the DNA profile of Appellant. (ROA pg. 1198)

Heather Velez, an FDLE Microfiber analyst, found that the fibrous material samples taken from the barbed wire fence matched fibers in both the sweatpants and sweatshirt found at the church. (ROA pg. 1281, 1283)

The state's theory of the case at trial was that Appellant entered the unlocked back door and killed Archie Crook, Sr. because Archie Sr. learned that Appellant was working with the police as an informant. Kimberli Kimbler was killed as an afterthought. The State argued that this killing then was a preemptory action taken by Appellant before Archie Sr. could retaliate in some manner. Appellant then allegedly left through the back door, snagging his clothing on the barbed wire fence near the door, before discarding his socks and the murder weapon on the property. Appellant then supposedly discarded the remainder of his clothing behind the air conditioning vent near the Most Holy Redeemer Catholic Church before leaving the area. (ROA pg. 1590-1649) Detective James Williams stated at trial only that Archie Crook Jr. was eventually eliminated as a suspect in the

case without further elaboration into any additional investigation pursued by the JSO into his involvement. (ROA pg. 1495)

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