IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JASON ANDREW SIMPSON,

Appellant,

v.

Case No. SC07-0798

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

STEPHEN R. WHITE ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Florida Bar No. 159089

Office of the Attorney General PL-01, The Capitol Tallahassee, Fl 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 Ext. 4579 (850) 487-0997 (FAX)

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

After a verdict is returned a juror will not be heard to impeach the verdict when his testimony concerns his misunderstanding of the court's instructions. Walker v. United States, 298 F.2d 217, 226 (9th Cir. 1962). This rule does not violate a defendant's constitutional rights. See Stein v. New York, 346 U.S. 156, 178-179, 73 S. Ct. 1077, 97 L. Ed. 1522 (1953).

475 F.2d at 1121 (footnote omitted). Here, at most for Simpson, Juror Cody expressed her confusion concerning jury instructions. Her statements were not the basis for attacking the jury's verdict; therefore, as in Stacey,

interviews of additional jurors were properly denied.

Based on the forgoing authorities, Simpson's reliance (IB 50-51) upon Pozo v. State, 963 So. 2d 831 (Fla. 4th DCA 2007), is misplaced. Pozo, unlike here, concerned an allegation of harassment of jurors by the sherrif's office, that is, "evidence of actual prejudice resulting from external juror influence." There was no such allegation here. Instead, Juror Cody told the trial court about matters entirely internal to the deliberations, that is, matters that inhere in the jury's verdict.

Compare, e.g.: Russ v. State, 95 So. 2d 594, 601 (Fla. 1957)("facts alleged ..., if established as true, ... of such character as to raise the presumption of prejudice. They show that the jury in its deliberation considered statements of fact not properly before it"); Mattox v. United States, 146 U.S. 140 (1892)(prejudicial newspaper article read to jury).

For all the foregoing reasons and authorities, as well as those discussed by the trial judge, his decision not to allow further juror interviews merits affirmance. And, although unnecessary, the judge's decision was further validated at the end of the penalty phase by Juror Cody's re-re-affirmation of her guilty verdict. (See XXII 1980-81)

ISSUE V: DID THE TRIAL COURT REVERSIBLY ERR BY FAILING TO DEFINITIVELY RULE ON THE DEFENSE'S PRE-TRIAL MOTION IN LIMINE REGARDING THE ADMISSIBLITY OF REVERSE WILLIAMS RULE EVIDENCE? 27 (RESTATED)

This issue (IB 53-54, 55) states that the trial judge made no definitive ruling on Simpson's pre-trial motion in limine, styled as "Motion for Pre Trial Ruling on Admissibility of 'Reverse' Williams Rule Evidence" (IV 714-16, 722-24) ²⁸ "U/A" Is written on the order accompanying a copy of the motion (IV 725), indicating that the trial judge took the motion under advisement (See clerk's notes for Jan 05 2007 at the beginning of vol. V). Because on its face this claim alleges that there is no trial court ruling to appeal, this claim fails to state a claim cognizable on direct appeal. Armstrong v. State, 642 So.2d 730, 740 (Fla. 1994), is on point:

In his next claim, Armstrong argues that the trial judge erred in failing to grant his pretrial request for a Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI) test to determine whether Armstrong had a brain tumor,

Simpson's issue statement confuses two different legal principles: reverse <u>Williams</u> Rule evidence and impeachment evidence. The nature of Reverse <u>Williams</u> Rule evidence is, through evidence of someone else committing one or more very similar crimes, to show that someone else committed the crime being tried. On the other hand, impeachment evidence targets undermining the believability of the other side's witness. Issue V argues that the judge did not rule on Simpson's motion in limine, which was limited to "Reverse" <u>Williams Rule</u> evidence (<u>See</u> IV 722-24). Nevertheless, the topic of impeachment arose at the hearing on the motion in limine and the trial judge properly addressed the topic commensurate with the level of details with which the defense presented.

²⁸ The State does not fully address the correctness of the trial judge's oral preliminary rulings because they are not contested on appeal. Instead of claiming that the trial judge's rulings were incorrect, this issue claims that the judge did not rule. If Simpson's Reply Brief attempts to contest the content of the judge's rulings, the State objects. Such a claim would be a different issue than the one presented in the Initial Brief.

a fact which could have been used in mitigation. The record reflects that, at the pretrial competency hearing, four experts testified regarding Armstrong's competency to stand trial: three testified that he was competent to stand trial; one testified that he was incompetent to stand trial because of his inability to read and write and that an MRI might be helpful in identifying this deficit and other defenses. The trial judge reserved ruling on this issue and apparently never issued a ruling. Consequently, this issue is procedurally barred. Richardson v. State, 437 So.2d 1091 (Fla. 1983) (failure to obtain ruling on motion fails to preserve issue for appeal); State v. Kelley, 588 So. 2d 595 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991) (same).

Indeed, as the trial judge did here, it is common for trial courts, in their discretion managing a case, 29 to take motions in limine under advisement, essentially awaiting the full evidentiary context and a possible predicate to be fleshed out at trial. At that point, the record would be developed for a proffer to preserve any appellate claim based upon the trial court's ruling.

On January 5, 2007, the trial judge provided a pre-trial hearing on the motion in limine (IX 1674-95), but defense counsel could only tender vague facts of dark clothing and home invasion robberies³⁰ by multiple perpetrators using non-axe weapons such as guns and not involving a homicide. (See IX 1676, 1678, 1681-82)³¹ In contrast, the facts presented

²⁹ Compare Dickey v. Circuit Court, Gadsden County, 200 So. 2d 521, 527 (Fla. 1967)("Mandamus lies to require the performance of **nondiscretionary** official action").

 $^{^{30}}$ Compare, e.g., victims' house in this case not ransacked, purse still on table. (XIV 714-15).

³¹ Part of the so-called reverse <u>Williams</u> Rule evidence also consisted of Simpson going with Griffis to Wal-Mart "to buy clothes that were similar to the ones used in this crime, black sweat pants and black sweat shirts." (IX 1678) At best for Simpson, this evidence may have implicated another suspect as an accomplice **with Simpson** in this murder. As to this evidence, the judge left the door open for the defense to pursue this line of questioning on cross-examination. (See IX 1679) Similarly, Griffis'

to the Judge for this case consisted of an axe murder involving drug disputes, not robbery (See, e.g., IX 1682-83) and involved a single perpetrator, Simpson (See IX 1683-84). The proposed evidence concerned events occurring from 1996 to 1998, in contrast to this July 1999 murder. (IX 1687) Some of the proposed reverse Williams Rule evidence did not even involve a home; one of them was a "burglary to a sporting goods store." (IX 1684) Moreover, Simpson posed supposedly similar incidents through apparently the self-serving and inadmissible hearsay of his statements to Lieutenant Wahl. (See IX 1674-76, 1680-81, 1688)

When defense counsel amplified the proposed evidence as also including a red hat and clothes swapping between Simpson and Simpson's accomplices in the robberies, the judge queried defense counsel: "How are we going to keep the jury from knowing your client was committing these other crimes with them? I guess we're not." Defense counsel then vaguely indicated that he did not intend to use the evidence in his case-in-chief, "only if Durrance and Griffis testify to what I think they're going to testify." Defense counsel continued by placing further conditions on his use of the evidence by stating if that happened, then it would be Simpson's decision "as to whether I call those witnesses or not. But we've had that discussion, judge." The Judge then indicated he would not limit the defense's "cross-examination to anything that's relevant. Anything relevant to their bias and motive towards your client or any rewards they're getting

admission that he, Simpson, and Little Archie prepared for and attempted a home invasion would have harmed Simpson more than assisted him. ($\underline{\text{See}}$ IX 1685-86)

is certainly going to be admissible." (IX 1691)32 He ruled that Simpson's statements to Lieutenant Wahl concerning others' crimes are hearsay. (IX 1691-92, 1693)³³ Concerning any police reports of other crimes, the Judge said that he did not know and "[w]e'll have to cross that bridge when you decide how you're going to put your case on." The Judge cautioned that the similarities of others' crimes would need to be more than simply black clothing. (IX 1692-94) The Judge reiterated that the defense "would have to convince me that there's sufficient similarity *** and then I will make the decision." (IX 1694) To the degree that the judge awaited further details to rule, he was reasonable, supporting affirmance. See Trease v. State, 768 So.2d 1050, 1054 (Fla. 2000) ("Having failed to demonstrate the relevancy of the sought-after testimony by way of proffer, Trease cannot now claim error"), citing Finney v. State, 660 So.2d 674, 684 (Fla. 1995) ("Without a proffer it is impossible for the appellate court to determine whether the trial court's ruling was erroneous and if erroneous what effect the error may have had on the result."); Lucas v. State, 568 So.2d 18, 22 (Fla. 1990) (holding that a party's failure to proffer what a witness would have said

For support for the judge's distinction between reverse <u>Williams</u> Rule evidence and impeachment, see <u>McDuffie v. State</u>, 970 So.2d 312, 325 (Fla. 2007). The State does not elaborate because Simpson only claims that the judge did not rule. He does not challenge the content of the rulings.

State, 622 So. 2d 963, 969 (Fla. 1993)("evidence here concerning the detective's interviews is hearsay that does not fall within one of the hearsay exceptions. The substance of the interviews does not constitute reverse Williams rule evidence because it would not have been admissible had the other suspect been on trial for the present offense. Thus, the trial court properly excluded these statements").

on cross-examination renders an alleged trial court error in the exclusion thereof unpreserved).

Ultimately, at the time of the pre-trial hearing, defense counsel explicitly stated, "I understand" and "I understand the ruling" (IV 1695); on appeal, the defense should be bound by its understanding. There was no complaint that laid the groundwork for Issue V.

In sum, Defense counsel "understood" the "ruling," and the Judge's guidance concerning the purported reverse <u>Williams</u> Rule evidence was coextensive with the level of detail that the defense provided. The Judge did not refuse to rule on all aspects of the motion, and for those aspects of it on which he did not rule, he reasonably awaited context and further details from the defense.³⁴ Therefore, even overlooking, for the sake of

Moreover, although not raised on appeal, the trial judge's insistence on similarities beyond similarities in color of clothing was reasonable. For example, Rivera v. State, 561 So.2d 536, 540 (Fla. 1990), upheld the trial court's exclusion of proffered evidence. In contrast to here, there the details of the proposed evidence were submitted to the judge for a ruling. There, the non-similarities included no similarities concerning manner of death; condition, location, and disposition of the bodies. "The only alleged similarities were that both Staci and Linda were riding bicycles when they were abducted; they were both asphyxiated; their bodies were found in the same general area; and pantyhose was discovered in the vicinity of their bodies." In other words, where abductions are similar (from bicycles), where the manner of death is similar (asphyxiated), where the incidents were in the same area, and where there is a link in clothing (pantyhose) associated with the crimes, the similarities are insufficient. Here, there were no deaths at all in the supposed similar crimes, the weapon was different, the defense did not clarify any geographical proximity to this murder, and dark clothing and a hat for nighttime crimes are not as distinctive as panty hose. As in Rivera, here, on a preliminary basis, "the trial court did not abuse its discretion in excluding the proffered evidence." See also England v. State, 940 So.2d 389, 405 (Fla. 2006)(stipulation limiting the evidence); Huggins v. State, 889 So.2d 743, 762 (Fla. 2004) ("Huggins asserts a theory of relevancy based largely on

argument, this issue's facial claim of no ruling being fatal to bringing it on appeal, see Armstrong, this issue still has no merit.

Although unnecessary to resolving this issue, the record is clear that the defense had opportunities prior to the evidence phase of the trial that begged for any doubts regarding the trial judge's position on the motion in limine to be resolved. Immediately prior to jury selection, defense counsel, the prosecutors, and the judge discussed a variety of pretrial matters. (See XI 4-20) Defense counsel even brought up a motion in limine he had filed "months ago" on which he said the judge had only partially ruled. That motion sought to "prohibit the State from eliciting testimony." (XI 12) However, the defense did not raise the motion in limine that is the subject of Issue V during any of this discussion. Similarly, between the end of jury selection and the beginning of opening statements, counsels and the judge discussed several anticipated trial matters (See XIII 472-96), including experts (XIII 482-83), marking exhibits (XIII 483-84), such as exhibits to which the defense had no objection (XIII 484), a crime-scene model that the prosecution intended to use (XIII 486-87), and yet the defense failed to even mention the motion in limine that is the subject of this issue. If the motion had not been resolved sufficiently for the defense, then defense counsel would have pursued it.

facts that were never proffered to the trial court"; "trial court is correct in its conclusion that the Lewis and Larson murders were quite dissimilar"), discussing Gore v. State, 784 So.2d 418, 432 (Fla. 2001), Kimbrough v. State, 700 So.2d 634 (Fla. 1997), Crump v. State, 622 So.2d 963 (Fla. 1993), Rivera v. State, 561 So.2d 536, 539 (Fla. 1990), and State v. Savino, 567 So.2d 892, 894 (Fla. 1990).

In conclusion, on its face Issue V fails because it concedes that the defense failed to obtain a ruling. Even if the analysis delves into the hearing on the motion in limine, the judge's rulings were reasonably measured and co-extensive with the level of detail and level of vagueness the defense tendered. In a word, at the time, the defense "understood" the rulings. On appeal, the defense should be bound by whatever understanding it grasped.

<u>ISSUE VI</u>: DID THE UNOBJECTED-TO STATEMENTS OF THE PROSECUTOR IN ARGUMENTS TO THE JURY CONSTITUTE FUNDAMENTAL ERROR? (RESTATED)

In this issue, Simpson attempts to escape the contemporaneous objection rule by arguing that several prosecution arguments to the jury constituted fundamental error. (IB 55-61)

"[C]onsiderable latitude is allowed in arguments on the merits of the case. Logical inferences from the evidence are permissible." <u>Spencer v. State</u>, 133 So.2d 729, 731 (Fla. 1961). Accordingly, <u>Merck v. State</u>, 32 Fla. L. Weekly S 789, 2007 Fla. LEXIS 2271 (Fla. 2007), recently summarized applicable law:

Attorneys are permitted wide latitude in closing arguments but are not permitted to make improper argument. Gore v. State, 719 So.2d 1197, 1200 (Fla. 1998). Closing argument is an opportunity for counsel to review the evidence and to explicate those inferences which may reasonably be drawn from the evidence. Counsel must contemporaneously object to improper comments to preserve a claim for appellate review. Unobjected-to comments are grounds for reversal only if they rise to the level of fundamental error. The Court considers the cumulative effect of objected-to and unobjected-to comments when reviewing whether a defendant received a fair trial. Brooks v. State, 762 So.2d 879, 898-99 (Fla. 2000). A trial court has discretion in controlling opening and closing statements, and its decisions will not be overturned absent an abuse of discretion. Dufour v. State, 905 So.2d 42, 64 (Fla. 2005). We look

at the closing argument as a whole to determine whether that discretion was abused.

Simpson has failed not only to demonstrate fundamental error but also any error whatsoever. All of the prosecutors' statements were proper.

At the outset, it should be noted that the judge properly instructed the jury that it is the sole judge of the credibility of witnesses and the reliability of the evidence (XXII 1960-61; XIX 1705-1709) and that the arguments of counsel are not evidence (XVII 1590).

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